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[image: A map of northern France shows the five landing beaches. From west to east they are Utah and Omaha for the US First Army, and Gold, Juno and Sword for the British Second Army. The landing zones for the US eighty-second and hundred and first airborne divisions are shown behind Utah and the British 6th Airborne Division behind Sword. Hill 112 is shown southwest of Caen.]


[image: A map of the Cotentin peninsula marks the front lines on 10 June, 19 June and 30 June. Bradley’s First Army is shown pushing south against the German Seventh Army, and west, and north. German resistance ended in the far northwest on 30 June.]


[image: A map of the battle during August shows the Falaise Pocket. The German Seventh Army in the west is attacked by the British Second Army, and cut off by 19 August. The Fifth Panzer Army and the First SS Panzer Corps are attacked by the British XII Corps. To their east the Canadian First Army advances south to cut them off, and is counterattacked on 20 August by the Second SS Panzer Corps. An inset map indicates the front line on the sixteenth of August, with the US First Army breaking out to Dreux and Chartres in the east, towards Paris.]









D-DAY: INTRODUCTION


On the morning of 6 June 1944, a British landing craft carrying US Army Rangers ground ashore on Omaha Beach.


‘The Germans opened fire with machine guns practically down the throat of the ramps,’ Captain John Raaen remembered. ‘Anyone who tried to go down the ramp died.’


The slaughter on Omaha was so terrible that some Allied soldiers on the beach thought the invasion would fail and yet, two months, three weeks, and two days later, Aircraftman Frank Collins bore witness to the destruction of the German army as it retreated from Normandy. ‘I saw people coming out of burning tanks with their bodies alight, their clothing alight. And for me, I think that was possibly the worst part of the war.’


Every day of the Normandy campaign brought fresh horrors for the men who killed and died to establish, and then expand, the Allied beachhead in Western Europe. D-Day, and the Battle of Normandy, are rightly recognized not only as a turning point in the Second World War, but as one of the most significant events in our history. As such, the campaign has been written about extensively, which prompts the question: why another book about D-Day?


I believe that there are more than two million reasons, for this was the number of Allied soldiers who took part in the campaign. Add to that the French civilians whose homeland was turned into a battleground, and the Germans who stood against the Allied landings. Each of their stories deserves telling, but tragically, most never will be.


Some of these stories were lost in battle, when men were cut down in their youth. Others were taken to the grave. How common it is to hear that ‘My grandad was in the war, but he never talked about it.’ It is exceptionally difficult to relive the worst days of one’s life, and while compiling this book, watching and listening to interviews with veterans, I saw many tears, and heard many voices crack or trail away.


‘You are the last person to talk to me about World War Two,’ tank driver William Gast told his interviewer. ‘This is the end.’


The reason why men like William told their stories was not because they searched for any kind of glory for themselves, but out of duty to their comrades: they did not want them to be forgotten, and they hoped that future generations might learn the lessons of history.


The recollections of William and John were made available by the National World War II Museum in the United States. The remarkable archives of this institution, which includes the Eisenhower Center Peter Kalikow World War II Collection, University of New Orleans, and of the Imperial War Museums in Great Britain, have provided the basis for this book. Both are home to thousands of oral histories, across rank, division and regiment, creating a lasting historical record. I am incredibly thankful to them for that, and for their tireless dedication in documenting the service of our veterans. The Juno Beach Centre’s Legacy of Honour Video Collection also proved an invaluable resource. Any mistakes are, of course, my own.


I am also grateful to authors who have told the story of Operation Overlord, as the Battle of Normandy was known, from a strategic and a tactical level. The movements of the armies, the battles they fought, and the interplay of the commanders has been written superbly in several volumes. Other authors, such as Stephen Ambrose, Roderick Bailey, and Giles Milton, have helped to bring the individual’s experience to the fore.


George MacDonald Fraser served as an infantry soldier in the Second World War and wrote, ‘With all military histories it is necessary to remember that war is not a matter of maps with red and blue arrows and oblongs, but of weary, thirsty men with sore feet and aching shoulders wondering where they are.’1


So while there is some ‘signposting’ in this book to give readers a general idea of who was where, and when, its primary concern is with the experiences of the weary, thirsty men with sore feet and aching shoulders. It is an accompaniment to the groundbreaking BBC and History Channel documentary series D-Day: The Unheard Tapes, which has given new life to the voices of some of those who were part of this massive moment in our history by telling the stories of those who experienced D-Day first hand, in their own words, from all sides of the conflict. The book seeks to build around those powerful documentary interviews, with more than a hundred and fifty contributors from different nations and military branches. I have tried, wherever possible, to find additional complementary stories that have not been extensively covered in other works. While there may be crossover in some key moments in the Battle of Normandy, such as those pertaining to the important accounts of Major John Howard and the men of D Company at Pegasus Bridge, I hope that everyone who reads this book will also come across material that is as unfamiliar as it is moving.


Of course, it is beyond the scope of this book to give a voice to every man and woman, every unit, and every battle that took place in Normandy. Instead, in keeping with the documentary series with which this book is connected, I have tried to bring together voices that shine light on a certain personal aspect of the campaign. What was it like to fight in the hedgerows of the Normandy bocage? What went through the mind of a tank crew in a battle with superior German panzers? What was the experience of working in a field hospital, and dealing with a constant stream of wounded?


Throughout the text I have referred to people by their first name, and have generally dispensed with rank. I have tried to tell the story chronologically when possible, but some accounts have been moved to lend their voice to others. Where possible I have added the recollections exactly as they were spoken, but at times a word has been added or changed for clarity.


I have used the term ‘recollections’ for several reasons. First, because what you recall and what actually happened can differ in the best of circumstances, let alone when you’re tired, afraid, and fighting for your life. Secondly, many of the interviews used in this book were given sixty years or more after the events took place. Time has a way of distorting our memories, as described by Captain John Raaen.


‘There are certain brilliant flashes of memory, things that you will never forget. Things that were usually caused by trauma or great delight or some great event. They are short, they are very precise. They probably do not change over your entire life. Surrounding those important memories are a collection of other supporting memories. These supporting memories gradually fade. For a while you have memories of the memories, and then finally you develop a legend of memories, as I apparently have, about those brilliant, sharp primary memories. The legends very satisfactorily fit in with those primary memories and explain them.’


What we retain most strongly is feelings. Terror when a shell hits your tank. Disgust when you smell a rotting body. Joy when you reunite with a friend. War is perhaps the most extreme set of circumstances that human beings can find themselves in. Many who have seen it say that it brings out the best and the worst in mankind. It lays a person bare.


Many of the men who fought in Normandy were not soldiers until circumstance compelled them to be. When the war was gone, they tried to return to peaceful lives. I say try, because many carried the weight of what they had seen, and done, for the rest of their lives. These men abhorred war in a way that only those who have seen it can. They lived with memories of friends lost, and enemies killed. No soldier came back to his home the same man that had left it, nor was any family ever again whole after losing a loved one. We owe it to them all to listen, to learn, and to protect the peace for which they paid so much to give us.


Geraint Jones









CHAPTER ONE


The Eyes of the World Upon Them


The Men Who Fought on D-Day


‘I don’t think there’s anybody closer than the man that you’ve got to fight with. You go through hell for them. And they go through hell for you.’


James ‘Jimmy’ Wilkinson, 9th Battalion, Durham Light Infantry


In February 1944, General Dwight D. Eisenhower, the Supreme Commander of the Allied Expeditionary Force, began drafting a message that would be delivered to the ‘Soldiers, Sailors and Airmen’ under his command. On the eve of D-Day, 175,000 copies of this ‘Order of the Day’ were distributed to those about to take part in one of the greatest operations in history.


‘The eyes of the world are upon you,’ Eisenhower told them in one of the many compelling passages. ‘The hopes and prayers of liberty-loving people everywhere march with you. In company with our brave Allies and brothers-in-arms on other Fronts, you will bring about the destruction of the German war machine, the elimination of Nazi tyranny over the oppressed peoples of Europe, and security for ourselves in a free world.’


As Eisenhower told his troops, D-Day, and the Battle of Normandy, were an international affair. They were fought in the homes and the fields of the French people. The defenders were German, their own ranks including Soviet Russians, and Asiatic peoples. In the air were pilots from Australia, New Zealand, and Czechoslovakia. There were commandos from Hungary and tank crews from Poland. Canadian volunteers in their tens of thousands. American GIs from the Big Apple, Chicago, Los Angeles, and hometown USA. British soldiers from the Highlands, Cornwall, and everywhere in between.


Some of these soldiers, sailors, and airmen had been serving in their nations’ armed forces before the war, but the majority were citizen soldiers. Some volunteered, others were conscripted. The pre-war occupations of these servicemen were as varied as their wartime roles: the miner who drove a tank onto the beaches; the office boy who flew a fighter bomber against panzers; the movie star who became a commando. Some grew up wealthy, others were dirt poor. They came as an army, but they were all individuals with different pasts, different futures, different dreams, and different beliefs. Now, in the summer of 1944, the threads of millions of lives were woven together for a common purpose: the invasion of France, the liberation of Europe, and the unconditional surrender of Nazi Germany.


‘Overpaid, oversexed, and over here’


While the war in which they fought was a global event, many of those involved knew little of life outside of their own towns and cities before they began their military service. When the Japanese attacked the Pacific Fleet in Hawaii, a common question amongst the American population was: ‘Where the hell is Pearl Harbor?’


There was no such confusion about their reaction to the attack, and the next day the lines outside recruiting stations were hundreds, even thousands of men long. For many, the road to Normandy began on 7 December 1941. By the eve of D-Day, more than 1,600,000 US service personnel were based in Britain. In some respects, it was a world away from the homes they left behind.


In the 1940s, the town of Athens, Texas, had a population of around 5,000 people. It was the kind of place where faith and football formed the cornerstones of the community.


‘It was a great place to grow up,’ said Frank Denius. ‘Everybody knew each other. When I was twelve years old, in a family that was really dominated by my grandmother and my mother, all of my family, including my uncles, thought with the likelihood that World War Two might come along that I needed the discipline of attending a military school.’ Frank graduated from the Schreiner Institute, and following the attack on Pearl Harbor he enlisted in the army at seventeen years old. Frank served in the artillery, and came to Britain aboard a troopship carrying 11,000 men.


‘I went through Ranger training in England. And then in late April of ’44 I joined the 30th Infantry Division as a forward observer. You went on marches and training almost 24/7. It was very intense.’


Harry Parley served in the 116th Regiment, 29th Infantry Division. Born and raised in the Bronx, he was recently married when he was drafted into the army at the age of twenty-three. After sixteen weeks of basic training in Texas, Harry was sent to New Jersey to board a troopship to England. The 116th were carried aboard the Queen Mary, and disembarked at Greenock on 2 October 1942. The Queen Mary played a vital role in WW2, carrying a total of 810,000 troops.1


Harry’s first impression of Britain was that it was ‘a fortress’. He spent the time leading up to D-Day in Wiltshire, Devon, and Cornwall, and other parts of the UK training as a member of an assault team in the 2nd Battalion. ‘We were called E Company or Easy Company . . . They had been originally from a National Guard in Virginia, and the regiment or the division was made up of National Guard officers from Virginia and Maryland.


‘We went to special schools. We went to assault training school. We went to flamethrowing schools. We went to commando courses. We were taught how to shoot from the hip. It’s different shooting at a moving human than it is at a target. Actually shooting at a target allows you to regulate the sights of your weapon. But in combat, you seldom do that. It’s what they call snap-shooting.’


Because they had been picked for special duties, and were given a large amount of training as a result, Harry and his comrades in Easy Company received little leave. When the Jewish men in the battalion were invited to a Passover Seder in Birmingham, Harry and about half a dozen other soldiers saw a chance to remedy the situation. ‘They picked up other Jewish boys from other battalions, a truckload, I would say about sixteen. We got to Birmingham, went into the temple, out the other door, and went drinking. Time was short.’


While many US soldiers were training in Britain and awaiting the invasion of France, others were already engaged in combat.


Bruce LaRose grew up in a steel town in Pennsylvania during the Great Depression, his memories of which were ‘hunger, for one. Eating a lot of onion sandwiches. Eating sugar on bread. Ketchup on bread, as the meal. And wearing shoes with holes in them that my brother wore out, or the two brothers before him.’


Bruce enlisted in the army in 1940, when America was still at peace. That all changed in December 1941.


‘I heard about Pearl Harbor, as did all of us. The world got real close around us. We were in more intense training, and eventually we ended up going overseas.’ Bruce’s division, the 1st Infantry Division (better known as The Big Red One), was destined for Tunisia. ‘We went to England on the Queen Mary. Shortly after that, we sailed for Africa, and did a beach landing at Arzew, where the African campaign began for the 1st Infantry Division.


‘The landing wasn’t a bad landing at all.’ Bruce came ashore with B Company, 16th Infantry Regiment. In Africa he saw a comrade killed for the first time.


‘We saw a group of men outside one of the houses, just standing there with shotguns. So we sent a scout forward to see what they were up to. They seemed harmless. Our scout’s name was Kazmerkowitz. Kazmerkowitz got right up to them. We couldn’t hear what they were saying, but one of them pointed his rifle up. There was a lot of birds flying around. But when they pointed up, Kazmerkowitz looked up, and one of them put a shotgun under his chin. Pulled the trigger and blew his head off. All three of us then zapped them.’


It was the first of countless actions for Bruce. Over the course of the Second World War he participated in the North Africa campaign, the invasion of Sicily, D-Day, Normandy, the Battle of the Bulge, and the Hürtgen Forest. Bruce was awarded the Silver Star and the Bronze Star for his bravery, and spent twenty years as a covert operative for the CIA.


While some of the American troops had lived through the Great Depression and were no stranger to hard times, Britain was very much a front line against Nazi Germany, and the GIs – as the American soldiers were known – were often shocked at conditions in their ally’s home.


Walter Ehlers and his older brother Roland joined the US Army together in October 1940. As soldiers in the 18th Regiment, 1st Infantry Division, they were about to embark on their third campaign of the war, having already fought in North Africa and Sicily. When they were recalled to England in December 1943 to prepare for D-Day, the Ehlers brothers got a chance to visit London.


‘We weren’t prepared for the chaos that we saw in London . . . It was unbelievable to see all the destruction . . . just building and block after block of town completely destroyed. It was just unbelievable. You just couldn’t imagine it until you saw it.


‘They had a raid that night.’ As the air-raid sirens wailed, Walter and Roland took cover in an underground shelter with some local civilians. It wasn’t long until the bombs started to explode. ‘The English sat there . . . like nothing was happening. We were shaking in our boots, practically. We didn’t know what the heck to do. Pretty soon they got an all-clear sound, and we came out. We followed the English out, and they went out about their business as though nothing had happened. Then we suddenly realized they’d been doing that for over three solid years . . . it was moving, very moving, to see them do that. We gained a lot of respect for the English when we saw that happen.’


John Witmeyer was a twenty-three-year-old from New Orleans, who arrived in Liverpool in April 1944. He’d had a regular boy’s life, playing in the streets with his friends and doing his school work at night. He then worked as a roofer until the United States went to war. He enlisted the day after Pearl Harbor.


‘I tried to join the Marine Corps, and I didn’t pass their physical on account of my vision. They suggested I went to the navy.’ John was then rejected a second time because of his eyesight. ‘So I joined the army.’


The clubs and pubs of Britain were often busy with American servicemen. They were better paid than their British contemporaries, and as many of the latter were deployed in other theatres of war, that left a surplus of young women eager for companionship. This inevitably created some tension with the locals. ‘We were moving to some area and some kid about thirteen years old . . . he was walking next to me . . . and starts spitting at me. So I promptly took him by his warm coat and hung him on a six-foot-high steel fence.’


John recalled an intense rivalry with the British servicemen. ‘So being in the infantry we were always a little bit cocky about the air force. I was at a dance after a parade in England, and it was mostly RAF. I checked my coat at the coat check and she hung it on the rack at the end of a table, and I happened to go back there and go to the restroom, and there must have been thirty people must have spit on my coat. RAF guys, you know. They always had that old thing, overpaid, oversexed, and over here I think the British used to say. So I stopped the dance and wanted to know who did it. Who was big enough to come up and say who did it. Course nobody did, and then we started the music again. Started jostling one another. Started bumping one another.’ Inevitably, things escalated. ‘And we all ended up being locked up in the firehouse overnight because they didn’t have enough jail space in that town for the American soldiers.’


In Normandy the Allies would be relying on each other to survive, but until that time came, soldiers would be soldiers.


An Army of Volunteers


Of all the national armies that took part in the Battle of Normandy, only one was composed purely of volunteers. Though the National Resources Mobilization Act initiated nationwide conscription across Canada in 1940, only the willing could be sent to fight overseas. Some 250,000 Canadians were active in Europe at the time of D-Day, from a population of around 12 million.


It can be argued that Canada’s ‘D-Day’ losses actually began almost two years prior to the Normandy landings. On 19 August 1942, Operation Jubilee was launched against the French coast. Better known as the Dieppe Raid, Jubilee was intended to capture and hold a port for a short time, gather intelligence, boost Allied morale, and perhaps most importantly, demonstrate to the Soviet Union that the Allies were serious about opening a front in Western Europe. Nearly 5,000 Canadian troops took part in Jubilee, supported by around 1,000 British Commandos and 50 US Rangers, with support from the Royal Navy and RAF.


The operation was a failure in almost all respects, and was called off after six hours of heavy losses. Jubilee did, however, provide some important lessons, perhaps the greatest being that the liberation of France could not begin in 1943. More men and materials would need to be built up in Britain, and the Luftwaffe’s capability would need to be degraded significantly.


A heavy price was paid to prove these points. Over 4,000 of the 6,086 men who landed at Dieppe were wounded, killed, or captured.


The sacrifice of Canadian soldiers on European soil was nothing new: 66,000 were killed during the First World War. From their first major battle, in 1915, to the close of the war, Canadians were recognized as some of the most ferocious and dependable troops, and often chosen to spearhead assaults. In his letter to Canadian forces on the eve of D-Day, General Crerar, commander of the First Canadian Army, told his troops that ‘as Canadians, we inherit military characteristics which were feared by the enemy in the last Great War. They will be still more feared by the time this war terminates.’ He went on to tell his army: ‘The plans, the preparations, the methods and the technique which will be employed, are based on knowledge and experience bought and paid for by the 2nd Canadian Division at Dieppe. The contribution of that hazardous operation cannot be overestimated. It will prove to have been the essential prelude to our forthcoming and final success.’


One of the soldiers involved in that success was Jim Parks of the Winnipeg Rifles.


‘I was just a young guy . . . we thought war was an adventurous thing. We went overseas on a banana boat called the SS Orbita and we landed in Liverpool about the 16th September 1941. We got on a train and went from Liverpool down to . . . Aldershot. We did a lot of training there, a lot of what they called anti-invasion exercises. We were stationed along the coast of England and there was always a threat that the Germans might invade.’2


Patrick ‘Bill’ Lewis grew up in Newfoundland, and was seventeen years old when war was declared in Europe. ‘(I felt) like John Wayne. I wanted to join up straight away and be a hero.’ Bill tried to join the navy, ‘but they told me to clear off and get back to school.’ It was a temporary setback, and Bill joined the army the following year.


Though Newfoundland was at that point in effect a British dependency, and did not become part of Canada until 1949, its soldiers served in the Canadian army during the Second World War. This led to some tension between the troops.


‘I look back and laugh now,’ said Bill. ‘But at the time it got on your nerves a bit to be constantly badgered by what you were. A Newfoundlander.’


There are two things that have bonded soldiers across the ages: a common ‘enemy’ and alcohol. Bill and his comrades found the first when trying to enjoy the second, as they were pitted against the military police who enforced Canada’s strict drinking laws.


‘The MPs would come and grab you with a gun out, believe it or not. That was very upsetting, to lose your bottle of whiskey. We decided that they had to be taught a lesson. So we grabbed them up one night, took them out a few miles outside of town, stripped them off and left them there. We didn’t have too much trouble after that.’


Bill and his fellow soldiers in the 2nd Canadian Armoured Brigade then shipped out to England, landing a year ahead of D-Day. For them, coming to the defence of the ‘mother country’ was a matter of duty. ‘We felt a part of Great Britain. We were brought up that way. Brought up strictly that way, that Britain was our mother country, and that it would just be automatic for us (to serve).’


When he arrived in England, Bill was surprised to find himself more patriotic than some of the locals. ‘We were so loyal in comparison to when I got to (England). I didn’t feel the same enthusiasm from the people here that we actually had (at home). They probably didn’t express it, as we were. At home, when they played “God Save The King” at the end of the movie, everybody stood. Nobody left the cinema. (In England) I was amazed to see people getting up and walking out when the national anthem was being played.’


At least the rules around drinking were more relaxed.


‘The pubs were crowded. If you didn’t get in quick and get a glass, you didn’t get a beer. We also had Canadian Women’s Army who were in the pub with us as well. We didn’t get on very well with them. They were a real tough lot of women. They had it made. Fifty to one if you like. They never had to buy a drink or anything, and consequently they got drunk, there was so many people buying for them, trying to get their favours. From my own experience . . . that was the sort of trouble we had. Fighting in the pubs over a limited number of women.’


Tommies


The British servicemen who took part in D-Day had lived with the very real threat of invasion of their own country. Around 11,000 of the army’s regular soldiers had died fighting the German invaders in Belgium, France and Holland in 1940, with many thousands more taken prisoner. Still more were lost in the Far East. Thousands had died in the battles of North Africa, and other campaigns. While General Bernard Montgomery did recall several veteran formations to take part in the Battle of Normandy, many of the men, whether volunteers or conscripts, were seeing action for the first time. By the end of June, more than 400,000 of them would be ashore in Normandy, including Trevor Edwards of the Royal Welch Fusiliers.


‘I was born in a little village . . . called The Ffrwd. It’s outside of Wrexham. My mother died with the flu epidemic in 1917 . . . my grandmother brought me up. (My father) was a steel worker. Previous to that he was a collier.’


Trevor left school at fourteen and worked as a grocer for seven years before going into the quarry. He was called up in January 1940, by which time he was working in steel.


‘I knew I was going to be called up . . . I could have had a deferment because I was on war work, but at that particular time a friend of mine also had his calling up papers . . . so my father like, he’d been in the last war, he said, “You might as well go now like I had to do, and you’ve got your friend to go with you as company.” So I decided to go. I joined the Royal Welch Fusiliers.’


Trevor’s father had never talked much about his own experience of war. ‘He didn’t mention much about the army, me father. He just said that it’s not only the fighting, it was the conditions that you lived under, and things like that. I always remember him saying to me that the conditions of living in the 1914–18 war was worse than actually fighting.


‘When I got to (the train station) there was about twenty of us there. Young men, and we all had our cases . . . we were mostly all Wrexham boys. When we got to the camp, we were for about a week without a uniform. Some just had a cap. And we’d be marching up and down. We were conscripts, and the people in charge of us were regular soldiers . . . They seemed to resent us . . . Their attitude was, why didn’t we join the army before? They give us a bit of stick on that, like.’


After training, Trevor served in the 8th Battalion, Royal Welch Fusiliers. It was a holding battalion, and provided drafts of men to reinforce other parts of the regiment. In 1944 the unit was based in Fleet, England, which is close to the large British army garrison of Aldershot.


‘I liked to drink like, I was one of the lads. There was the RAMC training depot there . . . and also the Canadians were there. There used to be a kind of a feud going between the Royal Welch Fusiliers and the Canadians. We used to wear a black Flash, you see. And it all started over one of the lads getting this Flash ripped off. It was ripped off as a souvenir, and then there was fighting, like. When we were walking home like, they’d waylay us on the road, you see. A couple of Canadians. These lads would come in the billet with a black eye. And we’d waylay them the next day. It was a bit of fun like, really.’ In an attempt to stop the fighting, an agreement was reached between the Canadian and Welch COs to alternate the nights that their units would go into town.


Trevor saw his first gunshot casualty before he ever reached France.


‘A lad was cleaning his rifle in one hut and he had a round up the breech. He pulled his trigger and the bullet went straight through the hut and took (another) lad’s eye out.’


The soldier who lost the eye was from the same town as Trevor, and worked with him at the steel works after the war. ‘We were all like Wrexham lads. Local boys, most of us.’


Major John Howard became one of the best-known British officers who served in the Second World War, but the odds of him ever obtaining a commission were stacked against him. ‘I had a very poor childhood . . . I was born in a mews off Tottenham Court Road in the West End (of) London (in 1912) . . . as the eldest of a very poor family. I had to become a breadwinner as soon as possible.’ John left school at the age of fourteen, and worked in several offices. His living conditions were hard. ‘Let’s face it, I lived in slum conditions. I won’t go into the details of it now. It’s embarrassing.’


At the age of eighteen John lost his job in the ‘slump of 1931’, and made the decision to join the army. Of course, thousands of other men had the same idea, and the recruiting process was extremely competitive. This was no issue to a man of John’s disposition. ‘I had ambitions of getting on in the army . . . I wanted a commission, which was very, very difficult from the ranks in those days.’


The men John was serving with were ‘very rough and tough. They were very mixed bag, as you would expect, and they were very rough and tough. And in the Shropshires there was a very high proportion of Welshmen from the mining villages. And I freely admit I cried my eyes out for a couple of nights when I was in the back room with these toughs and wondered if, you know, if I, I’d survive.’


John did survive, spending six years in the army before leaving and becoming a police officer. He was recalled to the service following the outbreak of war, and quickly rose through the ranks, becoming the regimental sergeant major of the King’s Shropshire Light Infantry. He then achieved his earlier dream of becoming a commissioned officer, and by 1942 he was a major and Officer in Command (OC) of D Company, 2nd Battalion, Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Light Infantry, known amongst soldiers as the Ox and Bucks. A year earlier, they had been re-roled as glider infantry, and in 1943 they joined the newly created 6th Airborne Division. ‘A lot of Londoners were posted into my company and as a Londoner myself, I was pretty pleased about this.’


John set a high standard for himself and his soldiers.


‘We didn’t follow the normal pattern of training. We had to do certain things, (like) drill . . . I used to take the company drill instead of the company sergeant major. Perhaps on reflection I think it’s probably wrong, but you felt you had the command and the respect of (the men) by doing it. I used to take the whole company out for three or four days . . . at a time on exercises, sleeping rough, things like that, whereas the other companies would follow the normal routine, you know, of drill in the morning, weapon training in the afternoon, all of them normal programmes with very few exercises at night, night training and things like that. And then I’d bring them back and give them the day off.’


John believed that this instilled a strong sense of spirit and camaraderie in D Company. ‘There’s a sort of effect of, well, we’re different. And it all helped to build up in D Company a tremendous esprit de corps. We were very good in all the sporting events. More often than not, we ran off with the swimming cup, cross-country cup, boxing, anything that was going. And we probably made more noise than anybody else with that cheering and jeering. God knows what. But it is all part of esprit de corps as far as I was concerned.’


The men of D Company were eager to get to grips with the Germans. They were warriors, and without an enemy in front of them, they would sometimes go in search of one on English soil.


‘A lot of my men got into trouble outside. One of the most serious punishments you could give an airborne chap was a RTU. That’s Returned To Unit, and it was a disgrace. They lost their red beret and the honour and everything that went with it of being in the airborne division. And some of the people who got into trouble because of this staleness (ended) up fighting in the town with the guards or the military police or something like that. It was a military police offence.’


John would have to go in front of the CO and plead his case that the man remain in the 6th Airborne Division. ‘Many a time I went up to placate my colonel and explain that this chap is one of the best.’ John referred to these men as his ‘scallywags’, born fighters and leaders who could not hold rank when in garrison and training duties because they were constantly in trouble. John believed they were exactly the kind of men that were needed when they crossed the Channel.


‘And by God, they didn’t half prove it, all the scallywags, when we got to the other side. They were the best. Unfortunately, most of them were killed ’cause of their nature.’


John’s D Company were given one of the most critical missions on D-Day; taking and holding two bridges on the eastern flank of the Allied beachhead, from which Allied armour could then break out.


Twenty-two-year-old Royston ‘Roy’ Vallance served in the 2nd Fife and Forfar Yeomanry, a Territorial Army unit equipped with Sherman tanks. Like many soldiers of his generation, Roy’s father had gone to war before him.


‘My father was an invalid, having been gassed in the First World War. He died when I was very young . . . He was gassed, and he never really recovered health from that. My mother also died when I was very young.’ Roy was raised by foster parents until he was fifteen. ‘And then I got a job and looked after myself.’


He was called up and began his military service in March 1942, and enjoyed his time in uniform. ‘We used to go down into Newmarket for our leisure. Go to the pubs and that sort of thing. I used to spend quite a lot of time, illicitly, in a wood at the back of where we were camped with a .22 rifle and got the odd pheasant. That was quite good fun. We used to go out and get mushrooms, and supplement the food. All together it was a very happy time.’


William ‘Bill’ Dunn was fourteen years old when he left school and started work in Silksworth Colliery. When the mine shut at the beginning of the war he moved to Chester, building blast walls around oil-refinery tanks to shield them from German bombing. He continued this work until he was called up in 1942. ‘I didn’t mind, because actually I thought the army was a lazy life, (compared) to what I’d been used to.’


Bill’s father had served in the First World War and gave his son some advice. ‘He always said, “Well, you’ve got to make the best of it when you’re in.” It was a bit rough at first, but once you got settled into it, it was really enjoyable.’


Bill felt that his background in mining had given him an advantage over men who came from office work. He was enlisted into the King’s Own Yorkshire Light Infantry before being transferred to the 70th Battalion of the Essex Regiment.


‘While I was at the Essex Regiment I did commando training. Went up to Fort William with the commandos.’ The battalion was disbanded in March 1943, and Bill found himself in the Royal Armoured Corps. ‘We had to train on all different types of tanks, and I decided that I would be a driver, a mechanic . . . we did quite a lot of training with the tanks there, and then they put me on a Churchill.


‘Every man was trained in the tank to do the job of another crewman. If there was a crewman injured or anything like that, another man could drop in and do his job if he were out, say the tank was on its own. Radio operator got hit, any one of the crew could take over the radio. And I had a co-driver sitting alongside me. If I got hit he could take over. So we could do each other’s jobs, you know, which was a good thing.’


An important part of Bill’s training was learning to recognize different models of enemy tanks, and to know their strengths and weaknesses. ‘We were told about the Tiger tank having so much armour in front of it, and where to fire the guns at the Tiger or any other German tank for penetration purposes, or to knock them out.’


While Bill was preparing to go to North Africa with the Royal Armoured Corps, it was decided that a special unit of Royal Engineers would be formed for the invasion of Europe. Bill found himself in his fourth unit in two years.


‘There was twenty-six drivers taken out of our lot to go to join the Royal Engineers. And we had to train the Royal Engineers on tanks, and they had to train us on the engineer side of it. And this was how the assault squadrons was formed, and I think it was about eight or ten assault squadrons at that particular period of time, and I was in the Two-Six.’


These assault squadrons of the Royal Engineers were equipped with the modified tanks known as ‘Hobart’s Funnies’. ‘My tank . . . we were trained to carry the fascine.’ This was a bundle of heavy-duty rods that could be dropped into a ditch or trench, acting as a bridge for vehicles to cross the obstacle. Other ‘Funnies’ carried flamethrowers, flails that would set off buried mines, or mortars. They proved incredibly important on D-Day.


Of course, there could be no invasion across the Channel without sailors.


Ray Smith was seventeen years old when he first went to sea. ‘I joined a ship at Rosyth and went straight to Iceland. I’d never been to sea on a ship before.’3


Aboard the destroyer HMS Middleton Ray took part in the infamous Arctic convoys. As well as dangers from U-boats, German surface vessels, and the Luftwaffe, crews had to contend with conditions so extreme that bare flesh would stick to the frozen metal of the ship. The temperatures dropped below –30C, and the seas were so rough that the waves were described as mountainous. In such hostile environments, humour was an important weapon. ‘I was old enough to be sent on Russian convoys, but not old enough to draw my rum ration,’ Ray joked.


These dangerous missions were vital to supply the Soviet forces that were battling against the Axis on the Eastern Front, and would have a direct impact on the Battle of Normandy – the more German units were engaged in the east, the less could be diverted to compete against the landings in the west. The Arctic convoys paid a heavy price for this success: 3,000 Allied servicemen, 85 merchant vessels, and 16 warships were lost to enemy action alone. ‘I think we had more damage done by the sea than enemy gunfire,’ said Ray. ‘If we could survive that, we could get through anything.’


After being taken off convoy duty, HMS Middleton was put on anti-submarine operations in the North Sea. ‘We had one or two near misses. We (dropped) loads and loads of depth charges but nothing came up,’ Ray said, meaning wreckage or oil from a destroyed U-boat. For a while the Middleton was sent to the English Channel to hunt enemy shipping. Then the preparations for D-Day began. ‘As D-Day approached we were doing training with various landing craft – we were doing that for quite some time, getting used to what we were doing with the convoys and getting ready to go to France.’


Several British units that would fight in Normandy had already seen action in other theatres, but they would need to be brought up to strength by soldiers who had yet to see combat.


Twenty-one-year-old Berkeley Meredith joined the Staffordshire Yeomanry when the regiment returned from North Africa. ‘When war broke out they were a Territorial regiment, and believe it or not they were on an exercise in Syria . . . And their first battle honour was one in Syria. They were fighting the French.’ These were the Vichy French who had made peace with Germany, and taken up arms against the Allies. ‘From that day on they remained in the desert. They were Desert Rats. 7th Armoured Division. They were in El Alamein and all the previous battles. They were very, very battle-hardened.’


Berkeley saw a difference in the TA regiment compared to the other units he had served with in the army.


‘I think there must have been a very different comradeship in a regiment like that . . . a different relationship between the ranks between that and a regular regiment. I’m not saying that discipline was any the less, but I think there was a different spirit because when you think back a lot of these people had known each other in civvy street. They were in maybe different walks of life, but they’d had to live with each other not only in their service commitment, but as civilians. So I think there was a more relaxed atmosphere between the various ranks in a regiment like that than there could ever have been in a regular regiment.’


James ‘Jimmy’ Wilkinson was one of the battle-hardened soldiers returning to England for D-Day. He had worked in the coal pits before joining the Durham Light Infantry in 1940. At the time he was sixteen years old.


‘I’d already passed for the navy at fourteen, but my parents wouldn’t let us. I was adamant that I was gonna go into the services. I just thought, everyone else is going, I may as well go as well.’ Jimmy’s neighbour, an ex-regular soldier, came along to the recruiting station to vouch for him. ‘I said that I was nineteen years of age . . . And they accepted that.’


As well as basic and infantry training, Jimmy went through a period of commando training.


‘Captain Black, he was an ex-police officer, and he was the jiu-jitsu expert. I was just a laddy, and he got me running up a bank with a naked bayonet, not sheathed. Three times he got me up, running at him, and he was tipping me up, because it’s easy. You might not think it is but it’s dead easy. It’s just a matter of balance, and when you’re running you’re out of balance. So he got me twice. Threw us. The third time I stopped a yard from him, and I hit him. And he went down. When he come to, he give me such a hiding, and he was laughing all the time. I says to him after he’d given us a hiding like, “You know if we’d been on active service you’d have congratulated me for doing that to an enemy. You expected me to just carry on, and you could just throw me about. That throwing about hurts you know. The reason that I stopped short, and hit you with the butt, was because you weren’t expecting it.”’


Jimmy and his battalion deployed to the Middle East in 1942. He took part in several actions in the desert, where the conditions were grim. ‘You get a dead body and it’s covered with maggots. Covered with flies. You’d get a scratch, or you’d get a cut. Two or three days it would be septic, and the maggots would be running in it. One of our medical orderlies, he got just a scratch. His hand was all maggots. You could scrape the maggots out.’


While he was at the front, Jimmy received a ‘Dear John’ letter from a girl back home.


‘It went around the Durhams. What she said, you see. I’d been courting her . . . and she was a bit older than me. She wrote to me, and she said it would be unfair for me to expect her to be there when I come home. Anyway, she says she wasn’t going to wait. At that time, a lot of letters hadn’t come, so I let anybody read it that wanted to read it.’


Other men didn’t take too well to similar news. ‘(It) didn’t take effect (while they were) in the line. When they were abroad it didn’t take effect. But we had two lads who killed their wives when they came back. They’d been messing about.’


Jimmy recalled one enemy attack when he was at Gazala. ‘The infantry came first . . . and then the tanks followed. The lads were in their trenches, and as soon as the infantry came they had a go at them, and they put a lot down. From what I heard myself, and I still hear it today, the tanks got onto the slit trenches . . . they’d turn the tanks, and ground the people (inside). There’s a lot of sounds that people make for different circumstances. Now if you get a person that’s injured by a bullet, then if it’s severe, he cries, and he’s crying for help. It’s not piercing. It’s just a cry for help. When you get a chap that’s burning, now his scream is very severe. When you hear a chap that’s being ground into the ground with a tank, you can hear that for miles, and it stays with you. It’s piercing. You could hear that quite a lot.’


In another action, Jimmy came across three Axis soldiers in a tank pit. ‘I killed them all with a bayonet. And I kept on (stabbing them).’ After the battle of El Alamein Jimmy was put in front of a psychiatry board.


‘Somebody had reported me I think, for the way I killed them Germans. They were asking various questions. ‘They said, in their deliberations, they’d come to the conclusion that I’d be better off in the (Pioneer Corps). I said, “I’m an infantry soldier. If I can’t fight with the infantry, in the regiment that I’m with, then I think you should send me to Blighty.” And the next day I was back on the line.’


Action in Sicily followed, where Jimmy became separated from his unit. He joined a group of other soldiers and came under fire from massive naval guns mounted inland. ‘They killed fifteen of them lads. All but me.’ When Jimmy visited the graves after the battle, he saw that one grave had his name on it: he was presumed dead.


At the end of the hard campaign the 9th DLI were visited by General Montgomery, who would command the armies that landed at Normandy. The men weren’t pleased to see him. ‘We refused to break ranks for him. He’s a wily old bird. He knew that he was going to take us home for the invasion of France, so because we wouldn’t break ranks he says, “I’m thinking of taking you home to England.” He didn’t say for the invasion of France like.’


It was not the last time that Jimmy’s unit took issue with a visiting figure.


‘The King saw us prior to the invasion . . . He came to the 9th first, and we had a new colonel.’ This officer, Humphrey Woods, had received several gallantry awards during his wartime service. ‘Which meant to us he was a good lad.’ The King asked the colonel if all the soldiers were old hands, to which the colonel ‘naturally to please’, answered, ‘Yes, your majesty.’ ‘The King then asked, “And how long have you been with the battalion, my man?” . . . He was plumb aghast. So, he never got an answer yet, so the King says, “Speak up, man! Speak up! When I ask a question I want an answer, and I want it now!” The (whole) bloody division heard. So we had orders that when the King went out of the field . . . he had twelve MPs in front of him, twelve behind, and he was in a Rolls Royce. So we were supposed to break ranks automatically, run to the side of the field where the road was, and . . . throw the hats up in the air, and let him know that we were pleased to see him.’


This did not happen.


‘We didn’t break ranks at all. We had to be marched to the side. When the MPs come, up went the hats, and shouts of Hooray to the MPs! and we slouched when (the king) came, and when the MPs behind (came), up went the hats again.’


After that the battalion was given seven days’ Confined to Barracks by their colonel, ‘but (you) couldn’t find five men for (guard duty),’ said Jimmy. ‘The lads all went out. They weren’t happy at all. Everybody went out, and they didn’t believe that it was just for the colonel to give us seven days’ CB.’ Presumably alcohol was enjoyed by those who left the barracks. The next day the colonel addressed the men on parade. ‘He says, “If any of you chaps want to ride in my car, all you have to do is ask, but I definitely dislike having my car stolen, and (you) firing revolvers out the window.”’


Jimmy explained the reason behind the men’s actions. ‘It was purely and simply because (the colonel) was a good lad, and the king had pulled him to bits. He had no right to talk to a man of his position in that manner, especially in front of us. I don’t think there’s anybody closer than the man that you’ve got to fight with. You go through hell for them. And they go through hell for you.’


The battalion was a tribe, and would fight anyone that threatened it. Even Allies.


‘The American air force had had the run of Saffron Walden, and the Americans had bashed some of our lads about. So they came back, blooded . . . and informed the lads that was in the camp. Now everybody that was in the camp went down. Armed. It was in the News of the World that the DLI had sacked Saffron Walden. But all it was, if they’d left the lads alone quietly, to have a quiet drink, there would have been no bother. But they caused the bother, and that was it.’


Thirty-one-year-old career soldier Major Herbert John Mogg joined the 9th DLI when they returned to England. ‘The commanding officer was Humphrey Wood . . . he was a highly experienced desert commander, having got two DSOs and two MCs, and had been blown up on mines a couple of times. He was slightly deaf in one ear. He was young, he was beloved by his battalion, he was a bachelor, and he couldn’t have made me more welcome. Every soldier practically had three campaign stars on his left breast, and quite a lot of them had Military Crosses, DCMs, Military Medals, and I was in quite a disadvantage over all this having not seen a shot fired in anger . . . Apart from that I found I might well have been in a foreign country, because I just couldn’t understand the Geordie language.


‘I think quite a lot of them were a wee bit bomb happy because they’d been at it from the time we got to the desert, until the time they came out of Italy. They’d been fighting practically the whole time.’ This led to some men believing that they had done their bit, and taking the matter of ‘leave’ into their own hands. ‘There was quite a lot of desertion . . . Just before we sailed, an awful lot of them returned.’


The Durhams would take part in several bloody battles in the months to come. For other regiments in the Allied invasion armies, their losses would begin before they ever reached French soil.


Exercise Tiger


In the run up to D-Day, large areas of Britain became training grounds for the Allied soldiers. At Slapton Sands in Devon, land, sea, and air forces combined to practise amphibious landings on a large scale. On 28 April 1944, it was the scene of a great tragedy for the Allied Expeditionary Force.


Leon Schafer was a US naval officer aboard a flat-bottomed Landing Ship, Tank (LST) designed to carry tanks and troops directly onto beaches.


‘We were training army units to load the LSTs, and it was on April the 27th, we finished training the army troops and loaded them to take them back to wherever they were going. (There were) twelve LSTs in our group. Six of them were three abreast in front of us, and we made a feint to Cherbourg.’


This feint was intended to provide intelligence on the German coastal defence reaction times. The LSTs were protected by a large screen of naval vessels, and it was hoped that any sortie by German torpedo boats would allow them to be destroyed in advance of D-Day. Like many plans in wartime, it did not survive contact with the enemy.


‘German torpedo boats attacked those six (LSTs) in front of us,’ said Leon. ‘They sank two and badly wrecked one of the LSTs. We lost a tremendous number of men. Army personnel that were aboard the ship. A lot of them were thrown overboard when the torpedoes hit the ship. They were thrown overboard and drowned. That was a Saturday night. We spent all day Sunday picking up bodies, and rescuing those in the water.’


More than 700 men died that night, with some estimates as high as 946. The disaster was kept out of the papers and newsreels, and it was decades before the circumstances around the tragedy were revealed to the public.


The sight of so many dead proved too much for one man of Leon’s crew. ‘One of our small boat officers went berserk as a result of picking them up. We had to leave him in the hospital in Portsmouth.’


Historians like Peter Caddick-Adams have documented the often deadly nature of training in preparation for D-Day. He describes incidents of men killed in glider crashes, shot during live-fire exercises, and drowned during practice assaults to name but a few. Such loss of life is a tragic inevitability of realistic training, the result of which may have helped save lives on the battlefield. Still, when we think of the sacrifices made during the war, we should recall that not all of them came at the hands of the enemy.


Interdiction


As soldiers trained in Britain for the coming assault, Allied aircrews began to shape the battlefields to the attackers’ advantage.


Air superiority – the ability to control the skies – is vital for a successful amphibious operation. In 1940, it was the resolute defence by the Royal Air Force, coupled with Hitler’s disastrous decision-making, which put an end to any real threat of an invasion of Britain. In 1944, air superiority was a prerequisite for the Allies’ invasion plans. Their ships were vulnerable to air attack and they needed to negate the inherent advantages the land defender has against a seaborne invasion. If the Germans could bring their crack panzer divisions to bear on the beachhead, there was a very good chance that the Allies would be driven back into the sea. The Allied air forces would have to slow the enemy’s advance, bleed their strength, and keep them under constant attack when they reached the field. To this end, Luftwaffe fighters were hunted in the skies, and airfields in France and Belgium were attacked. To slow German reinforcements, bridges, railways, and rail yards were destroyed. Anti-aircraft positions, gun batteries, and known headquarters were also targets. If it could hinder the Allied invasion, or help the German defence, it was a candidate for attack from the air. That this would inevitably lead to French casualties was cause for concern amongst the Allied leaders but ultimately, as Eisenhower reminded Churchill, it was necessary to increase the chances that the invasion would succeed.


Intelligence gathered by the local population played an important part in planning these pre-invasion missions. André Geloso had been a soldier in 1940, and continued to oppose the Germans as a member of the French Resistance.


‘I used to go around the countryside and observe the concentrations of troops and what was going on and so on. There was one point, above Deauville, they were building an underground cave with very powerful guns which were set towards the sea. The man who was in charge of the work there was a Frenchman, and there was a lot of [French] workers there. They used to work all the week, but never worked on Sundays. The (SOE) major said, “When the work is finished. Let us know and we’ll get it bombed.”’


The Special Operations Executive (SOE) was a secret organization tasked with sabotage and the organization of resistance in occupied countries. When André got word that the construction of the defences was complete, he contacted his British handlers.


‘The following Sunday we heard some planes coming . . . There was a terrific bombing there, there was two waves of bombers. There was a lot of casualties of Germans because we saw some ambulances passing all day. No civilians were . . . caught in it.’


André and his sister also helped downed airmen to escape capture, often hiding them in plain sight at a nearby farm.


‘There was about twenty-five airmen there, hidden all over the place. Some were working with the farmer. One . . . was a crossing guard. We gave him some civilian clothes. He used to come out and watch the trains, and there were some Germans there . . . It was such a safe place they wouldn’t have thought there was anything wrong there.’


The men who crewed the Allied aircraft were overwhelmingly young, with most under twenty-five; anyone in his late twenties was likely to be given the nickname of ‘Grandad’ or ‘Gramps’ by his crewmates. The odds for a bomber crew member making it through his tour alive, uninjured, and uncaptured was only around one in four. Of the 120,000 men who flew in the RAF’s Bomber Command during the war, more than 55,000 were killed. US bomber crews suffered a near identical casualty rate, with 26,000 KIA in the USAAF 8th Air Force. 16,000 Allied airmen lost their lives during the Normandy campaign.


‘You always felt it was never going to happen to you,’ said Herbert Kirtland, an RAF wireless operator in the Halifax bombers of No. 4 Group.


‘Leave came up about every six weeks, and you’d go away for a week’s leave, and come back, and perhaps look out for some buddy in the mess, and say where’s so-and-so, and somebody would shrug his shoulders and say, “They bought it two nights ago.” You know, you didn’t go into it very much. You realized you lost some more pals, and that was it.’


Herbert and the NCOs of his crew shared accommodation with the enlisted men of another aircraft. ‘They were a harem scarem bunch, none of them over twenty-one. I woke up one morning about 5 a.m. to find a couple of service policemen with torches going through, collecting their kit. I turned over, and I knew what that meant. Davies wasn’t back. And sure enough he’d been shot down.’


‘One minute someone was there. The next minute, they weren’t there,’ said Typhoon pilot Kenneth Trott, who was twenty-one in June 1944. ‘I think it was always the feeling that as soon as you took off from this country, that you were over enemy territory, and once you were over enemy territory, well, it would be a nice thought to be coming back again.’


Also flying missions to shape the battlefield for the invasion was Typhoon pilot Ernest ‘John’ Golley. John also turned twenty-one in June 1944, and had been inspired to join the RAF during the Battle of Britain. ‘I used to see the dogfights over Croydon . . . there were a lot of dogfights around. I really wanted to get in (the RAF) like yesterday.’


During the Blitz, John had been on the receiving end of an air-to-ground attack when a train he was on was attacked by a Heinkel bomber. In Normandy it was John who was making attacks on trains and railways. ‘I was doing precisely the same thing in northern France. We had eight rockets, four under each wing, and a full salvo was the equivalent of a broadside from a light cruiser. And then we had 20mm (cannon) shells. It was a lethal weapons system, the Typhoon.’


John and his squadron had no illusions about what awaited them in Europe. ‘We knew that we were going to give close support to the armies, and that we were going to be on the nasty end of the business. Having a scrap with an aircraft at 15,000 feet was one thing, but flying down the barrel of an 88mm was yet another.’


The German ‘88’ was a formidable weapon in the war. As well as lethal to infantry and tanks, the 88mm gun was a formidable anti-aircraft weapon. Indeed, this was its initial design, and was often its primary role on the battlefield.


Lutz Windisch served in a battery of 88s outside of Rouen. As a child he had been a member of the Hitler Youth, and had once shaken Hitler’s hand. ‘There’s one thing I never forgot. When Hitler came and shaked hands with me, I thought he would look at me, but he shaked hands and looked through me. It really hurt me.’


Lutz was nineteen years old when he arrived in France in the spring of ’44. ‘I was in charge of the technical aspect of the (88mm) gun. If anything was wrong I was the one that fixed it. We had about eight guns. In the middle was a unit that looked up to the airplanes in order to coordinate the shooting. When the Americans came and bombed the place, and one of the (telephone) cables was broken, you had no communication with the other unit there, which was very difficult, because in order to shoot somebody you have to be guided by an instrument . . . you had to be coordinated.


‘I remember one time, I was just maintaining and repairing a gun when I see an aeroplane coming . . . And you wouldn’t believe it, I could see the pilot, and the pilot laughed at me. He was flying and I was shooting behind him. He knew exactly what I was doing, but I was much too slow to turn the gun. I could see his face laughing at me.’


Lutz’s battery shot down several Allied planes during the war, but they were often on the receiving end of attacks themselves. ‘It’s horrifying, because you have no protection. We were open, in an open field. You’d be just . . . like a chicken out there.’


The Night Before


The invasion of Normandy was planned for 5 June 1944. In the preceding weeks, tens of thousands of soldiers were moved from their camps around Britain and placed into secure holding areas that resembled prisoner of war camps. Men were briefed on their missions and shown detailed maps and models of the areas that they would be attacking. On 4 June, they were marched to the docks and began loading onto the ships that would carry them to France.


Harry Parley served in the 116th Infantry Regiment, 29th Infantry Division. When he was issued with a new kind of substance for his flamethrower, Harry knew that training was at an end. ‘I knew right away that this was it. Of course. You’re made fun of . . . constantly saying, “This is it.” It became a little humorous saying. Anyhow, I carried the news back that our asses were in a sling now. We knew what we were getting into. It was not much to cry about it. If you had a particularly close buddy, you would talk personal shit, you know, you would exchange stories about your family and your wives. But in the group . . . what kept us going was the constant needling. Constant needling . . . and the foul language sort of always boosted our spirits.


‘We were loaded with equipment. There were men loaded with what they called satchel charges. These were a honeycomb of blocks of dynamite. Put it into what they call Z bags that were to be thrown into pillboxes. Each of us had a block of dynamite in our pocket because they said, “If you have to dig a foxhole in a particularly difficult ground, you put this little block down and pull the pin and it will explode the ground. Get you past the roots and the stones.”’* The assault teams also carried Bangalore torpedoes: tubes of high explosive for clearing barbed-wire obstacles. The flamethrowers and demolition equipment made for dangerous travel companions. ‘(It) wasn’t the safest place to be sitting in a boat,’ said Harry.


He and others were put aboard the USS Thomas Jefferson at Weymouth, where they waited for the big day.


‘There was a lot of gambling went on. Guys wanted to get rid of their money . . . We talked about life and how we expect to take it if we were wounded. I had a very gentle lieutenant in charge of my platoon. His name was Ferguson. I feel sorry for him because, you know, your platoon lieutenant used to have to look over your mail . . .’ This was for reasons of censorship to ensure operational security. ‘I realized that he was more involved in each one of these men than we were involved with each other. You know, all their thoughts and all their fears, and it gets you. He must have read my letter home. I don’t know what I had written but he asked me what I thought about dying. I told him, “If it comes, it comes. I gotta depend on whatever I’ve learnt.” And he seemed very sad, as if I expected him to take me in his arms. I never saw him again after the event. Maybe they bumped him off on the beach.’


Lieutenant Ferguson did survive D-Day. However, he never recovered from the wounds he received on Omaha Beach, and died from complications in 1954. For his gallant actions that day, he was awarded the Distinguished Service Cross.


Ray Nance was a first lieutenant in the same regiment as Harry, serving in Company A. ‘We were loaded on trucks and proceeded to the port of embarkation, which in our case was Weymouth, southern England.’ Ray had travelled the road before, during a ‘dry run’ for practice. Then, it had been empty. Now, it was packed with men and materials destined for Normandy.


Further east along the coast, Bill Dunn and the 26th Assault Squadron, Royal Engineers were in a secure camp at Fort Gomer.


‘They had barbed wire and wire fencing right round us. And we weren’t allowed out of that camp and weren’t allowed to write letters or anything like that. We got bombed a couple of times while we were there . . . bits of shrapnel flying around, because we were all under canvas. I’m saying under canvas. We were under the tank sheets, lying beside the tank.’


At Fort Gomer, the unit was given its specific task for D-Day. ‘We did training there because they knew exactly where we were going to land. And we were shown on not maps, but were shown on the ground. And what they did, they built scenes of how it was going to happen, and the culvert. We knew about the culvert we had to drop the fascine in and how far it was off the beach and everything like that, long before I went. So this was drilled into you day after day. You did this training and you’re going around Fort Gomer, dropping the fascine into this culvert where it should be, and then retrieving them and doing it all over again. So when it come to the actual day, it’s just in your mind, sort of automatic.’


Such levels of rehearsal speak highly to the preparation made for the invasion. Of course, it was one thing to be successful during practice in Fort Gomer and another when enemy shells were flying. Bill and his tank crew would have to run a gauntlet of six to seven hundred yards from the beach to succeed in their D-Day mission.


For the landing, each tank had been waterproofed by its crew. ‘We had to go right round all underneath the tanks and seal all the joints. And this compound sealed in, dried into a very hard sealing. We had to put extended exhausts on, and you put extended air louvres on the sides of the tank so that there’s no water got into the air louvres or the exhaust. And it, I think it was about four or five foot above the tank . . . and then when you got off to the other side, they had to be blown off. There was a small explosive charge, and it was all coupled to the turret and the tank commander just pressed this button and blew these things off. Blew them off as soon as we got down to the beach.’ Despite the preparations, confidence in the unit’s survivability was not high. ‘We were told not to expect to come back.’ These bleak words were not from a nervous man in the ranks, but from Bill’s commanding officer.


Also at Fort Gomer were the Winnipeg Rifles.


‘The night before we were going to sail the NAAFI ran out of beer. And of course, the Winnipeg Rifles wasn’t very happy about it. So they went in and smashed the NAAFI up and poured everything in the middle and set fire to the lot, which wasn’t very far from an ammunition dump,’ Bill chuckled. ‘Of course that caused quite a bit of a havoc. They had to get the fire engines running around and they’re trying to get the ammunition and everything out of the ammunition dump just in case. Caused quite a bit of excitement.’


‘I forget the number of days that we were there in port,’ said Ray Nance. ‘But finally the word came on the 4th that we would move out . . . so all ships moved out into the Channel. And somewhere along the way, word came that the thing had been delayed for twenty-four hours. So we returned to the port, same spot, and waited overnight.’


Nobody had told the weather about the importance of the Allied operation, and due to high winds – which would scatter paratroopers, and imperil landing craft with high swells – D-Day was postponed by one day. Many soldiers were never unloaded from their landing ships, and passed this extra day in port.


During this time the men of Company A played cards, and did ‘the usual things that troops do when they have leisure time.’ This undoubtedly involved talk of sweethearts, when the war would end, prayer, and horseplay. According to Ray, it did not involve talk of what was awaiting them on the beaches of Normandy.


‘I think everybody got a good night’s sleep and we, the officers, were up around two in the morning and (had) good breakfasts . . . then back to our quarters. And soon came the order to load.’


Before they loaded up onto their different ships, Walter and Roland Ehlers made plans to meet on Omaha Beach the next day. Then they said goodbye. It was the last time that Walter ever saw his brother, who was one of more than 4,000 Allied troops who gave their life on D-Day.


That battle began in the early hours of 6 June 1944.
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